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ADVANCE PRAISE

“Just when you think you’ve read and heard everything there is to know about the CIA, JFK, and the mob, along comes Thomas Maier with this meticulously researched and nuanced report that sets the record straight in some areas and breaks new ground in others. Mafia Spies reads like a thriller but it’s all true. I found it gripping from page one. And important. The events reported on here changed history and give us better understanding of current times.”

—Michael Connelly, #1 New York Times bestselling author
and creator of the critically-acclaimed series Bosch

“Mafia Spies is one of those stories that is truly more amazing than fiction, about an unlikely alliance between America’s best and worst. The tale is told at a relentless pace and makes great reading.”

—Scott Turow, bestselling author of Presumed Innocent,
The Burden of Proof, Identical, Innocent and more

“Mafia Spies brings history to life in epic, page-turning fashion. The depth of Thomas Maier’s research is astounding, as are the famous characters and fantastical events that quietly changed US history.”

—Martin Dugard, New York Times bestselling co-author of
Killing Lincoln, Killing Kennedy, Killing Jesus, and others written
with television personality Bill O’Reilly

“From CIA secret labs creating assassination tools first dreamed up by Ian Fleming in his James Bond novels, to poisoned cigars, exploding cats, Frank Sinatra, and two of the most well-connected mafioso in gangland history, Thomas Maier’s Mafia Spies is a revealing look into one of the most outrageous spy tales of the twentieth century. If you are unfamiliar with Sam Giancana and Johnny Roselli, and their connection to everyone from low-life mob hucksters to JFK, this is a book that will open your eyes to a world of political intrigue that reaches into the depths and heights of mid-twentieth century American culture. Maier’s knowledge of politics and of gangland lore is impressive, and he uses it here to great effect in Mafia Spies, a work that reads like a novel but is, amazingly, a nonfiction tale of mobsters working for the CIA to assassinate Fidel Castro. If Mario Puzo were more interested in journalism than fiction, this unrelenting page turner is the book he would have written instead of The Godfather.”

—Ed Falco, New York Times bestselling author of The Family Corleone

“The United States doesn’t order foreign leaders killed. Unless it does. And it did in 1960 when the CIA took the unthinkable step of recruiting two Mafiosi—Sam Giancana and John ‘Handsome Johnny’ Roselli—to murder Cuban Premiere Fidel Castro. The existence of this misbegotten plot was exposed in the 1970s during Senate hearings after the assassination of JFK, but we’ve been denied a full accounting until now. Drawing upon documents recently released by the National Archives, Thomas Maier spins a vigorously picaresque tale of the hoodlums and their handlers as they make run after failed run at the Cuban premiere with such lunatic ploys as exploding cigars and contaminated scuba gear. Castro’s crack intelligence network in Miami allowed him to dodge every bullet. The strength of Maier’s account is that he delivers such richly detailed profiles of the players that they seem to unfold in three dimensions. Often frightening, at times hilarious, this is a cautionary tale for anyone thinking it might be a good idea to ‘outsource’ intelligence operations. Mafia Spies is a bracing read and I enjoyed it thoroughly.”

—Teresa Carpenter, Pulitzer Prize winner and author of four books,
including Mob Girl: A Woman’s Life in the Underworld

“This story exposes a dark chapter in America’s history, when the CIA teamed up with murderous Mafia hitmen in an ill-fated assassination plot. Thoroughly reported and masterfully written, Maier delves deep into a world of political intrigue and underworld brutality. It’s a riveting, must-read.”

—Shelley Murphy, co-author of the New York Times bestseller
Whitey Bulger: America’s Most Wanted Gangster
and the Manhunt That Brought Him to Justice

“Meticulously researched and sourced, Mafia Spies, the compelling history of the pact between the CIA and Mafia to assassinate Fidel Castro, reads like a bestselling thriller. Thomas Maier’s swashbuckling story-telling takes you into a clandestine, paradoxical world where gangsters were patriots, spies were hapless bureaucrats, and political deception and murder were the prevailing currencies. For those who study US foreign and domestic intelligence practices during the second half of the last century, this is a must-read.”

—Libby Fischer Hellmann, author of High Crimes and Havana Lost

“Mafia Spies shows how the CIA and the Mafia colluded in a wild 1960s scheme to kill Fidel Castro, covered it up for years, and eventually paid an awful price. Investigative reporter Thomas Maier reveals many new aspects of America’s most extensive and shocking spy scandal. As a real-life drama, this non-fiction book blends the mob violence and intrigue of The Godfather with the CIA thriller-like quality of TV’s Homeland.”

—Gerard Ryle, director of the International Consortium
of Investigative Journalists, 2017 Pulitzer Prize winner,
“The Panama Papers”

“This is Thomas Maier’s epic story of the CIA and the mobsters recruited to assassinate Fidel Castro in the 1960s. Maier’s spotlight sweeps across America, casting its sharp focus from Frank Sinatra and the Rat Pack to the lesser stars and starlets of Hollywood to Havana and finally to the White House itself. Maier’s prodigious story-telling ability recreates a shocking moment in US history with unprecedented detail and drama, from the bungled attempt to assassinate Fidel Castro to the real possibility that John Kennedy himself was caught in the same seedy web.”

—Peter Eisner, author of MacArthur’s Spies,
former Washington Post deputy foreign editor,
and co-author of The Shadow President
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AUTHOR’S NOTE—
FOR YOUR EYES ONLY

“And ye shall know the truth,

and the truth shall make you free”

—JOHN 8:32 (BIBLICAL PASSAGE INSCRIBED
ON A STONE WALL AT THE CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY
HEADQUARTERS IN LANGLEY, VIRGINIA)

Spying, at its very coldest, discerns between truth and lies. Unfortunately, truth often emerges slowly.

Much of what happens in this book—a non-fiction narrative about gangsters Johnny Roselli and Sam Giancana and their fateful involvement with the US Central Intelligence Agency in trying to assassinate Cuban leader Fidel Castro—wasn’t known to the public until years, sometimes decades, after its occurrence.

The original 1960s Castro murder conspiracy remained a secret for fifteen years, until Congressional hearings in the mid-1970s revealed the spy agency’s basic plot. More spy details were released publicly in the years to come.

But the recently declassified files about the 1963 assassination of President John F. Kennedy, released in batches by the National Archives in 2017-2018, were the biggest help for this book. As I reported for Politico in February 2018, these documents from the CIA, FBI, and other agencies provided many new details about the spy agency’s Cuban activities. Overall, this glacial disclosure of truths, revealed over the past half century, makes a historical narrative like this one necessary and especially timely today, when the difference between truth and lies is never so apparent.

In putting together this book, lies of various size and sort posed the greatest obstacle. Virtually every major character engaged in some form of deception, half-truths, fabrication, and outright falsehood. Mobsters like Giancana and Roselli used aliases to disguise their true identities. Politicians sought “plausible deniability” to evade responsibility for their lethal actions. And double agents, “cut outs,” and master spies routinely evaded the truth, including one former CIA director who eventually pled nolo contendere to perjury.

Judging the veracity of each character’s assertions was undoubtedly my greatest challenge in coming up with a reliable non-fiction account of their public and private lives. As a result, the more than nine hundred footnotes listed at the back of this text rely primarily on sworn court testimony, Congressional hearings, CIA, FBI, and other government documents, oral histories in presidential libraries as well as published accounts in books, magazines, and major newspapers.

As a window into this complex story, Mafia Spies follows the joined fates of Roselli and Giancana, the two Mafia buddies forever linked by their unlikely role as “patriots,” in what became the most extraordinary spy mystery in American history.

—Thomas Maier, Long Island, New York, April 2019


CAST OF CHARACTERS

THE TWO GANGSTERS AND THEIR TARGET

Sam Giancana—Boss of Chicago’s Mafia organization called “the Outfit,” with lucrative casinos and other illicit businesses around the world. He and long-time mob pal Johnny Roselli agreed to help the CIA assassinate Cuban Communist leader Fidel Castro as a way of gaining favor with US officials.

Johnny Roselli—The mob’s charismatic fixer in Hollywood and Las Vegas, who befriended many entertainment figures and countless women. He acted as the main “patriotic” go-between with the Mafia, the CIA, and Cuban exiles wanting to kill Castro.

Fidel Castro—The Cuban revolutionary leader who seized power in 1959. During the Cold War, Castro ousted American Mafia figures from their Havana casinos and turned his Communist nation into a Soviet ally. In return, Castro became the target of a CIA assassination plot that recruited Giancana and Roselli as his avenging killers.

THE CIA

Allen Dulles—The CIA’s first director secretly approved the Castro murder plot in the final days of the Eisenhower administration and curried favor with the Kennedys until the 1961 Bay of Pigs invasion fiasco forced his departure.

William King Harvey—Touted as the American “James Bond,” this tough-talking CIA agent oversaw the Castro assassination plan and became Johnny Roselli’s faithful friend.

Robert Maheu—The private eye who acted as a “cutout” middleman between the CIA and the two mobsters, while also serving as a frontman for multi-millionaire Howard Hughes in Las Vegas.

Richard Bissell, Richard Helms, Sheffield Edwards—Top CIA officials who knew of the Mafia involvement in the plan to overthrow Castro’s government.

Dr. Sidney Gottlieb—A scientist whose CIA lab created numerous poisons, guns, and “James Bond”-like killing devices meant for Castro.

John McCone—The CIA director morally opposed to assassination who was deliberately kept in the dark about the Castro plot by his minions.

THE WASHINGTON POWER BROKERS

Dwight D. Eisenhower—Two-term president in the 1950s who oversaw the Cold War against the Soviet Union and approved the overthrow plan of the Cuban leader in 1960.

John F. Kennedy—As Ike’s successor, he inherited the CIA’s disastrous “Bay of Pigs” invasion plan and took blame when it failed yet favored aggressive covert action against Castro. JFK’s 1963 assassination prompted widespread rumors of a conspiracy, and whether the Warren Commission should have known about the Mafia-CIA plot against Castro.

Robert F. Kennedy—Former Senate rackets investigator and US Attorney General during his brother’s term, RFK personally oversaw the government’s anti-Castro efforts after the failed Bay of Pigs invasion.

Arthur M. Schlesinger Jr.—Historian and JFK aide who discounted claims that either JFK or RFK knew of the CIA’s murder plot against Castro.

Jack Anderson—Investigative reporter who helped expose in the 1970s the involvement of Roselli and Giancana in the CIA’s Castro assassination plot a decade earlier.

Lyndon B. Johnson—Successor to the slain JFK, he didn’t learn of the CIA’s Mafia plot against Castro until well into his presidency.

THE WOMEN IN THEIR LIVES

Judy Campbell—Voluptuous California divorcée whose succession of controversial affairs with Roselli, Frank Sinatra, JFK, and Giancana were chronicled in numerous FBI investigative reports and eventually caused a national scandal.

June Lang—Unlike so many other Hollywood actresses attracted to Johnny Roselli’s “bad boy” charm, she married the mobster. Johnny demanded June quit her film career, and they soon divorced.

Angeline Giancana—Sam’s adored wife whose early death left him as a widower with three daughters. Giancana viewed his religious “madonna”-like wife at home very differently from the other outside women with whom he had affairs.

Antoinette Giancana—Sam’s erratic, hot-tempered oldest daughter much like himself. Her memoir provided glimpses into her father’s personal life.

Donna Reed, Lana Turner, Betty Hutton, Jeanne Carmen, and Virginia Hill—Johnny Roselli’s Casanova-style romances and dating included these Hollywood actresses and well-known women.

Phyllis McGuire—Sam’s famous girlfriend, part of the singing McGuire Sisters. Sam’s intense jealousy for McGuire prompted the bugging of a rival’s hotel room by CIA operatives.

Marilyn Monroe—Famous actress who knew Roselli and his entertainment friends. Her tumultuous 1962 visit to Cal-Neva resort in Nevada, owned by Sinatra (and secretly by Giancana), set in motion the events that led to her suicide.

Marita Lorenz—A former lover of Castro, Lorenz was recruited by CIA operatives to entrap the Cuban leader in a hotel room and poison him.

Carolyn Morris—In the 1970s, Giancana considered marriage again, courting this fashionable blonde divorcée from Palm Springs, California, nearly twenty years Sam’s junior.

THE INVESTIGATORS

J. Edgar Hoover—The longtime FBI director didn’t know initially about the CIA’s recruitment of mobsters against Castro—or the infidelities of JFK with Giancana’s girlfriend—but once he did, he wielded the information like an anvil.

William Roemer—Like an avenging angel, the Chicago FBI agent became Giancana’s nemesis, listening to hours of private conversations through hidden devices in the Outfit’s headquarters.

Richard Cain—This “double agent” was a soldier for the Mafia, working secretly for Giancana, while also a corrupt Chicago cop, an investigator for the sheriff, and a freelance spy for the CIA against Castro.

Frank Church —US Senator whose mid-1970s hearings revealed many of the deepest secrets of the CIA’s plot against Castro during the Eisenhower-Kennedy years. His demands for Giancana and Roselli’s testimony had fateful consequences.

Earl Warren—US Supreme Court Justice who presided over the official 1964 probe into the JFK assassination, though commission member Allen Dulles, the ex-CIA director, never revealed what he knew about the Castro murder conspiracy.

THE CUBANS

Tony Varona—A corrupt former Cuban official strongly opposed to Castro who maintained friendships in Miami with both mobsters and Cuban exiles hoping to “liquidate” the Communist dictator.

Juan Orta—A “double agent” inside Havana who supposedly was going to slip poison pills to Castro at the behest of Mafia figures and the CIA.

Rolando Cubela—Originally a Castro ally, Cubela claimed he wanted to defect. The CIA tried to convince him to kill Castro, but he was probably a double agent.

G-2 (or DGI)—Created during the Cold War, Cuba’s intelligence service, also known as Dirección General de Inteligencia, became one of the most effective spy agencies in the world. Several spymasters ran this agency, but the real boss was Castro.

Manuel Artime—A beloved figure among the Cuban exiles and favorite of the Kennedys, he led the ill-fated 1961 Bay of Pigs invasion. Once a rebel with Castro, he strongly opposed Cuba’s turn to Communism.

THE ENTERTAINERS

Frank Sinatra—One of America’s best-known stars, he campaigned for JFK in 1960, introduced him to girlfriend Judy Campbell and befriended Giancana, Roselli, and other Mafia figures. He invested with Giancana in Cal-Neva casino resort until Nevada authorities learned of the mobster’s secret interest.

The Rat Pack—Sinatra’s showbiz pals included Dean Martin, Sammy Davis, and Peter Lawford, JFK’s brother-in-law. They were friendly with Sinatra’s mob pals and sometimes performed at their request.

Dan Rowan—A TV host and comedian, Rowan courted singer Phyllis McGuire, which prompted Giancana’s jealousy and a secret bug placed in his hotel room by CIA operatives.

Monte Proser—A front man for a talent agency and nightclubs controlled by members of the Mafia, including Johnny Roselli, in Hollywood, New York, and Las Vegas.

Harry Cohn—Powerful Hollywood movie mogul and close friend of Johnny Roselli.

Howard Hughes—Movie tycoon and wealthy aviator, he employed private eye Robert Maheu and wound up learning of the CIA’s secret Castro assassination plot. With the help of Roselli and Maheu, Hughes later bought several Las Vegas casinos.

THE OTHER GANGSTERS

Tony Accardo—Longtime boss of Chicago’s Outfit who picked Giancana as his successor but later regretted his decision.

Santo Trafficante Jr.—Florida don who joined Giancana and Roselli in the CIA plot but may have been a “double agent” for Castro.

Sam “Mad Sam” DeStefano—Psychopathic killer who was known as a violent enforcer of Giancana’s dictums.

William “Action” Jackson—A mob “juice” loan shark who was butchered by Giancana’s gang after being spotted talking with FBI agent Roemer.

Marshall Caifano—Chicago hitman who moved to Vegas to help oversee casinos with Roselli, while flattered his wife had an affair with Giancana.

Willie Bioff—Former Chicago mobster who turned informant in the Hollywood extortion case that sent Roselli and other gangsters to jail. Later murdered when he was discovered in Vegas hiding under an alias.

Jimmy Fratianno—California hitman and long-time friend of Roselli who became an FBI informant.


PHASE I:
PLAN OF ACTION

“There is nothing more necessary than good intelligence to frustrate a designing enemy, and nothing that requires greater pains to obtain.”

—GEORGE WASHINGTON, FUTURE US PRESIDENT
AND GENERAL IN THE REVOLUTIONARY WAR,
IDENTIFIED IN SECRET SPY PAPERS AS CODE NUMBER 711

“There are a lot of killers. You think our country’s so innocent?”

—PRESIDENT DONALD TRUMP, 2017


CHAPTER 1:

OVERTURE—
“THE GREAT GAME”

“When everyone is dead, the Great Game is finished. Not before.”

—RUDYARD KIPLING, AUTHOR OF KIM (1901),
CONSIDERED THE FIRST MODERN SPY NOVEL

At a closed-door Congressional hearing in June 1975, gangster Johnny Roselli testified about his role as a “patriotic” assassin for the Central Intelligence Agency, a top-secret operation full of spies, sex, and unresolved mystery.

With wavy hair and steely blue eyes, Roselli looked like a successful businessman—a "strategist" as he preferred to be called—or more like the Hollywood B-movie producer he once was. No run-of-the-mill hoodlum, he wore dark designer sunglasses, dressed in a blue blazer with a polka-dot silk hankerchief in its breast pocket, and carried a smooth leather attaché case. Murder never looked so good.

Surrounded by senators in rapt attention, Roselli offered an assortment of lies and deceptions, sprinkled with a few moments of truth. And when he finished his performance, he confidently stood up, closed his briefcase, and disappeared through a back exit.

Outside, photographers and inquisitive reporters awaited him, like a street gang ready to pounce. Flashing camera lights blinded him.

Few photos existed of this mystery witness in shades. Most were mugshots. None captured Roselli’s personal charm, the debonair sense of danger that made women swoon and fellow gangsters refer to him as “Handsome Johnny.”

At this shock of public recognition, Johnny’s body stiffened. His affable grin tensed. He’d spent his whole life, both in business and personal affairs, avoiding such moments.

As that rarest of “spooks”—a Mafia hitman turned top-secret spy—Roselli preferred the shadows. He never wanted to be in the spotlight, exposing his many deceptions.

Even his name “Johnny Roselli” was a phony, one of several aliases he used to avoid revealing his real identity.

Keeping his head down along a Washington street, Roselli hustled away from the Capitol, shunning the paparazzi eager to splatter his face across the next day’s front pages. They chased after this stylish mobster, hoping for more insights about his highly classified government mission.

Under oath that afternoon, Roselli had fielded questions about the biggest secret in CIA history, kept under wraps for more than a decade. As America soon learned, Roselli and his long-time friend, Chicago mob boss Sam Giancana, were two central characters in an elaborate CIA scheme to assassinate Cuba’s young Communist leader Fidel Castro during the 1960s.

Poison pills, exploding cigars, lethal James Bond-like gadgets, midnight boat raids from Florida with Cuban exiles carrying bombs and long-range rifles—a veritable army of undercover spies, double agents, and “cutout” handlers—were all part of this ill-fated campaign emanating from the White House.

Historically, the CIA’s murder plot against Castro marked America’s first foray into the assassination business. Kipling’s celebrated “great game”—the tradition of gentlemen spies engaged in gathering intelligence—had been now transformed into the killing games of covert operations, carried out by gangsters and other CIA surrogates.

Not even Roselli’s charm could mask this ugly truth when asked about his mission’s intent.

“To assassinate Castro,” he growled matter-of-factly in his deep whiskey-soured voice.

As each detail unraveled before a startled nation, the saga of Giancana and Roselli—two Mafia pals working for the CIA—seemed like a murder mystery and a spy novel all rolled into one.

This complex morality play of Cold War paranoia offered America a bizarre reflection of itself—shattering the heroic Hollywood image of “good guy” agents fending off foreign evil-doers. Instead, this true-life story revealed the much murkier and violent reality of modern espionage by those charged with defending the United States from harm.

As Roselli rushed away from the Senate hearing, reporters peppered him with questions about Giancana’s fate and concerns for his own safety. A Washington acquaintance later asked if he feared retaliation because of his testimony.

As always in times of crisis, Johnny never lost his cool.

“Who’d want to kill an old man like me?” he replied.

The unholy marriage of the CIA and the Mafia first became known to the American public in the mid-1970s, amid congressional hearings into the agency’s misdeeds and a growing national paranoia about the 1963 assassination of President John F. Kennedy.

For more than a decade, the plot to kill Castro was known only to a few. President Lyndon Johnson didn’t learn about it until his fourth year in office. By enlisting Giancana and Roselli, the CIA “had been operating a damned Murder Inc. in the Caribbean,” Johnson complained. Many troubling questions went unanswered—such as why the Warren Commission examining JFK’s killing was never told of the agency’s Castro conspiracy with the Mafia. Full of his own theories, Johnson predicted: “It will all come out one day.”

Yet this spy tale remained an enigma for years, including the mysterious fate of Roselli and Giancana. Not until 2007 did the CIA finally admit that Allen Dulles, its legendary director a half-century earlier, was responsible for offering a sizable bounty to the two gangsters in exchange for Castro’s head. “The documents show that the agency’s actions in the early 1960s still have the capacity to shock,” the Washington Post’s Glenn Kessler said of that long-suppressed internal CIA report known as “The Family Jewels.”

More pieces in the puzzle emerged in 2017, when the National Archives released thousands of files about the JFK assassination, kept secret in full or part for decades. Many pertained to the CIA’s Cold War crusade against Castro. Like strands in a ball of yarn, these individual documents revealed a complicated tale far greater than Americans ever realized at the time. Together, they provide the most comprehensive picture yet of America’s first confirmed attempt at state-sponsored assassination of a foreign leader.

These files also help illuminate Giancana’s and Roselli’s shadowy world, which included CIA spies and handlers, beautiful Hollywood women, “Rat Pack” entertainers like Frank Sinatra in Las Vegas, fellow Mafioso in Chicago, Cuban exile commandos in Miami, J. Edgar Hoover’s snooping FBI, and the zealous anti-communism of White House officials in Washington. They reveal the many passions, ambitions, and conflicting loyalties among these two outlaw friends, a sort of modern-day Butch Cassidy and the Sundance Kid, who rode on planes instead of horses for their getaways.

Giancana and Roselli, at the height of their careers, controlled a multi-million-dollar Mafia empire unprecedented in the annals of American crime—arguably bigger than the five families of New York’s La Cosa Nostra combined. Giancana—the gruff, traditionalist mob boss, a widower with three daughters—dreamed of exporting his Midwest criminal enterprise to Latin America. And Roselli, known for his Casanova style, served as the mob’s smooth-talking man in Hollywood before overseeing its casinos in Las Vegas.

The two began as young Turks for Al Capone’s Chicago gang, long before their CIA mission. They had a history of working together, running gambling palaces in Cuba and Nevada and exerting the mob’s will in myriad ways.

With a drink in hand or a woman on their lap, the two Mafia pals could be found in places like the Boom-Boom Room at Miami’s Fontainebleau Hotel, where the CIA scheme to kill Castro was hatched in September 1960. Although they cited “patriotic” reasons for accepting this assignment, Giancana and Roselli had their own motivations for eliminating the bearded dictator.

When he came to power, Castro closed down the Mafia’s very lucrative casinos in Havana, costing the two gangsters dearly. They still hoped to revive the swank San Souci resort that they had run in Cuba with Spanish-speaking Mafia boss Santo Trafficante Jr. The JFK files suggest Giancana and Roselli believed that cooperating with the government in such a high-risk venture as Castro’s assassination would earn them a kind of “get out of jail free” card that would keep the feds off their backs as they pursued their criminal activity at home. And for a time, their arrangement seemed to work.

Through the prism of these two mobsters, a much larger portrait emerges of America’s top spying agency spinning out of control when the nation most needed its vigilance. Documents show how the CIA conducted a covert war against Castro from a secret camp next-door to the Miami Zoo; how it developed James Bond-like killing devices at the behest of the Kennedys who loved the Bond novels; and how three different CIA directors lied about this secret murder plot, so it would never be learned by the public. This undercover quest turned southern Florida into a secret war zone and became a wild whack-a-mole hunt for Castro inside Cuba, all without success.

When Fidel Castro finally died in November 2016—not from an assassin’s bullet but peacefully asleep in his bed at age ninety—the world was reminded of all the fear he once provoked and why Cuba remains a solitary rogue nation stuck in time.

Instead of being a promised savior, Castro had turned his once prosperous homeland into an armed Communist camp. He enforced his rule with firing squads and merciless prisons. By inviting Russian nuclear weapons into his nation as a way of protecting his despotic regime, he helped incite the 1962 Cuban Missile Crisis with its threatened Armageddon between the United States and Soviet Union. Aware of the plots against him, Castro publicly vowed revenge—what experts called “blowback”—to those who wanted him dead.

Documents describe how Castro’s spy agency and its double agents in Florida “penetrated” the CIA operation far more than US officials realized; conspired to blow up New York City in a 9/11-like attack; and managed to keep “El Comandante” from getting killed despite numerous CIA-sponsored attempts. Obituaries about Castro mentioned these repeated assassination tries, but they provided little or no explanation about how he’d managed to avoid getting killed.

As Cuba now re-opens itself to the world, this spy tale serves as a Rosetta Stone for understanding all the Cold War hatred and violence that existed for decades—and is still very much with us. The CIA’s Mafia scheme against Castro shows how easily US espionage and law-enforcement agencies were corrupted more than a generation ago, with government-sanctioned murder justified on claims of national security. Talk of assassination pervades this “great game” just as it does in our Trump era, with Russian-trained spies left for dead, rumors of “kompromat” and presidential indiscretion, and worries of a new Cold War. Though unfamiliar to many today, this story of espionage and violence offers many important lessons at a time when Americans fear their trusted institutions could again go astray.

In the end, the Castro conspiracy became a Mephistophelian bargain—a promise to do whatever it took to get rid of Cuba’s Communist strongman. Giancana and Roselli expected that their actions against Castro, if not rewarded by the US government, at least would keep them free from future prosecution.

Yet danger pervaded every day of their lives, until its vengeful consequences finally caught up with them.


CHAPTER 2:

A STRANGE KIND
OF GENIUS

“Intelligence is probably the least understood and the most misrepresented of the professions.”

—ALLEN W. DULLES, THE CRAFT OF INTELLIGENCE

On a wall at his headquarters, a wide map of the world loomed over Allen Dulles, like some Herculean burden he’d carried on his shoulders for years as director of the Central Intelligence Agency.

From his Foggy Bottom offices in downtown Washington, DC, Dulles carefully guided America’s civilian espionage organization, created in 1947 from the wartime Office of Strategic Services. Allen had the good fortune to share the same worldview as his older brother, Secretary of State John Foster Dulles. He also enjoyed the confidence of President Dwight D. Eisenhower, who appreciated the CIA’s dangerous mission.

“Here is one of the most peculiar types of operation any government can have,” Ike explained, “and it probably takes a strange kind of genius to run it.”

Dulles didn’t fit the trench-coat stereotype of a spy. An honors graduate of Princeton University trained in diplomacy and corporate law, Dulles appeared like an Ivy League professor, with his white hair, dangling mustache, wire-rimmed glasses, avuncular style, and ever-present smoking pipe.

Yet the intrigue of spying was always in his blood. As a young man traversing the globe, Dulles read Kim, and was swept up in Kipling’s novel about the “Great Game” of espionage. “Its mystery and folk wisdom stayed with him for the rest of his life,” biographer Peter Grose observed, “long after the business of spying became more threatening than an artful game.”

The adventurousness of spying appealed to young Dulles, born with a clubfoot. Even as an older man, Dulles would speak patriotically, almost romantically, about the importance of espionage (and later died with a copy of Kipling’s Kim at his bedside).

Since his appointment in 1953, Dulles had successfully contained the ominous threat of international Communism, both with traditional tools of spycraft and other methods quite unconventional. While placing agents strategically around the world, he approved provocative top-secret programs. This included mind-control interrogation using hypnosis and drugs, and the development of high-flying U-2 spy planes—some of which were shot down but eventually proved crucial in spotting hidden Soviet arms in places like Cuba.

During the Cold War, Dulles remained unapologetic about employing necessary evils to keep America safe from harm. “There are few archbishops in espionage,” Dulles replied about the morality of employing a spy. “He’s on our side and that’s all that matters. Besides, one needn’t ask him to one’s club.”

Historians describe Dulles as an enigma—a man of deep and often conflicting impulses, with sharp differences between his image and his true nature. “Dulles was a master of bureaucratic infighting, adept at the arts of polite exchange when murder was in his blood,” concluded CIA chronicler Thomas Powers.

The paradox of Dulles could be found all around Washington. “Allen was genial in the extreme, with twinkling eyes, a belly laugh, and an almost impish deviousness,” recounted Tim Weiner in his history of the CIA. “But he was also a duplicitous man, a chronic adulterer, ruthlessly ambitious. He was not above misleading Congress or his colleagues or even his commander-in-chief.”

At Georgetown parties, Dulles would hobnob about international relations with senators and journalists. Afterwards he’d go home with women other than his wife Clover. (“I don’t feel I deserve as good a wife as I have,” he admitted to Clover in one letter, “as I am rather too fond of the company of other ladies.”)

The worldly spymaster enjoyed numerous affairs with female colleagues, including upper-class spy Mary Bancroft at the end of World War II, before Dulles took over the CIA. “We can let the work cover the romance—and the romance cover the work,” Dulles assured Bancroft, a Boston Brahmin, whom the long-suffering Clover eventually befriended.

To the public, Dulles talked endlessly about the CIA’s vigilance against foreign enemies. Although his agency was sworn to secrecy—so much so that the CIA’s spending and number of employees were largely unknown to Congress—Dulles enjoyed the media’s limelight, appearing on the cover of Time magazine. (Privately, he could record every conversation with microphones hidden in his office ceiling).

By October 1957, Allen Dulles reached the zenith of his power in Washington. He’d overseen a number of successful covert operations designed to resist Communist expansion, including coups in Guatemala and Iran. Each move was like a chess piece in a grand strategem within his mind.

As a sign of his influence, Dulles convinced Congress to build a brand-new CIA headquarters across the Potomac River in then-rural Langley, Virginia. It would be a fitting tribute to his legacy, where the agency would make its home for decades to come. Nestled on a 258-acre college-like campus, the new building eventually would be dedicated with a biblical verse from the New Testament: “And you shall know the truth, and the truth shall make you free.”

Preaching that national security should be above politics, Dulles intended to be CIA director when his beloved edifice opened in a few years, unveiled by a new president elected in 1960.

But on October 4, 1957, everything changed for Dulles.

On that day, the Soviet Union launched a tiny satellite called Sputnik I. The spheroid in the sky marked the beginning of the Space Age. This startling development in the Cold War sent shivers through the American body politic.

For years, the public had been obsessed with communism, a so-called “Red Scare” stoked by fervent anti-Communist politicians such as Senator Joseph McCarthy of Wisconsin. Sputnik appeared only two years after the Soviets had developed their own hydrogen bomb. Fears ran rampant of future Russian spy satellites overhead, of nuclear missiles raining from the sky. Politicians complained of a “bomber gap” between Soviet rocket technology and Yankee know-how that failed to stay ahead.

Around this time, Dulles lost his main political ally, his older brother, who developed cancer and died. Vice-President Richard Nixon worried Sputnik’s political fallout might hurt his 1960 White House chances. Unfairly or not, it seemed the CIA had been asleep during the Soviet Union’s Sputnik invention and H-bomb development—and Dulles was to blame.

Like a beleaguered batter up at the plate, Dulles faced more unexpected trouble from a new Soviet political satelite—Cuba—only ninety miles from the Florida coastline.

Within a matter of months, Fidel Castro’s band of guerilla fighters won their revolutionary campaign against President Fulgencio Batista’s corrupt government. The fiery rebel leader railed against the CIA and American business interests which he said undermined his country’s future. By 1959, Castro grabbed control of the island nation and vowed to never let go.

At first, Castro demurred whether he was a mere socialist or a full-fledged Communist. But Cuba soon became an ally of the Soviet Union and the closest Marxist nation to the United States. Famously, Castro shut down the Mafia-owned casinos in Havana, stirring the bloody anger of gangsters such as Roselli and Giancana.

Eisenhower became quite unhappy. Although the president and his advisors couldn’t decide “if Castro was a Communist or not, they nevertheless wanted to be rid of him and the danger he presented,” recalled biographer Stephen Ambrose.

Over time, this presidential demand would help transform the CIA—from its original 1947 purpose as a studious collector of foreign intelligence to the armed and dangerous covert branch of the White House. Though the agency was relatively new, Eisenhower recognized espionage had been always part of the Republic. At one White House meeting, Ike recalled reading a George Washington letter to a guest inviting him to dinner so he could give him a confidential spy mission. “The President observed that spying seems to be nothing new,” recorded a memo of that meeting.

Now in this tense showdown, with a Cuban desperado sponsored by the Russians, America wanted a sheriff who would set things right in the Caribbean. “We believed the world was a tough place filled with actual threats of subversion by other countries,” a CIA official involved in the assassination program later explained. “The Russians had cowboys around everywhere, and that meant we had to get ourselves a lot of cowboys if we wanted to play the game.”

The CIA under Dulles faced an unprecedented challenge from the Communist world. They couldn’t shoot Sputnik from the sky. But perhaps they could find some way of eliminating Castro. The agency’s charter didn’t sanction political assassination. But its director, ever a practical man, would find a solution—even if it involved drastic measures, like recruiting their own cowboys from the outside.

Aware of the rising national fears, Dulles knew that if he didn’t solve this Castro problem, there would be little chance that he would last in the job he loved. Or preside over the long-awaited opening of his cherished project—the CIA’s brand-new headquarters at Langley.


CHAPTER 3:

AIMING FOR FIDEL

“Condemn me. It does not matter. History will absolve me.”

—FIDEL CASTRO, 1953

The mounting pressures on Dulles and the CIA to do something—anything—about Castro came from numerous sources within the United States. Perhaps the greatest motivation, however, came from the actions of the Cuban dictator himself.

During two trips to America, first in April 1959 and again the following year to visit the United Nations, Castro made sure his personal charisma and revolutionary zeal were on full display. The American press ate it up, naïve and often ignorant about Castro’s growing despotism.

In New York, the Cuban leader—clad in green fatigues, Army cap, and chewing a cigar—greeted a massive crowd at Central Park like a hometown hero. He fed a caged tiger at the Bronx Zoo, lunched with Wall Street bankers, and enjoyed a rousing dinner in Harlem. He lectured a convention of newspaper editors and downplayed the influence of Communism in his government. Surrounded by news photographers at his hotel, he posed with smiling schoolchildren wearing curly fake black beards just like Castro.

“The young man is larger than life,” enthused the New York Times. Castro even traveled to nearby Princeton University—alma mater of the Dulles brothers—where he received a standing ovation.

Eisenhower refused to meet with the thirty-one-year-old Cuban leader. Instead he dispatched his vice-president, Richard Nixon, who became famous during the 1950s McCarthy era as a fervent anti-Communist. Nixon and Castro conversed for more than three hours.

“This man has spent the whole time scolding me,” Castro complained. Equally unimpressed, Nixon informed the CIA he favored “goon squads” to halt Castro’s advance. Dulles later sent the GOP’s budding 1960 presidential candidate a seven-page report, entitled “What We Are Doing in Cuba.” It included plans to embarrass Castro and adulterate his food with drugs, like LSD, to make him appear irrational.

Security was high during the Castro trips for fear of assassination. Dozens of New York City detectives and police barricades at Central Park protected Castro after a man carrying a homemade bomb was arrested. The press portrayed Castro as a brave man with a target on his back. A few months earlier, Havana authorities had halted another murder plot by a Chicago man allegedly offered $100,000 by supporters of the deposed Cuban leader Batista.

Pointing at America, Castro warned of “counter-revolutionary” forces that were determined to do him in. “We are prepared to take counter-measures,” he vowed to a Havana crowd. Admirers lionized the tall dynamic revolutionary, likening him to America’s George Washington. They claimed Castro “could outfight, outrun, outswim, outride and outtalk any man in Cuba.”

But the flattering news coverage surrounding Castro glossed over the escalating violence and increasing repression by his government, largely dictated by Fidel and his younger brother, Raul. Thousands of Cuban refugees—many from a once thriving middle-class—flocked to Miami and surrounding Florida to avoid persecution and possible death as political enemies of Castro’s anti-democratic rule.

These exiles hated Castro and his Latin brand of Marxism for ruining their lives and beloved country. Behind Fidel’s smiling socialism, they said, was a bloodthirsty tyrant who killed his way to the top.

Once in power, Castro’s forces offered blindfolds and firing squads to those who opposed his Communist government, even some who had shared in his fight against the corrupt Batista. Rather than reform, Castro put into place “a highly effective machinery of repression,” the Human Rights Watch later concluded in 1999, including torture of political prisoners, inhumane jails, and widespread suppression of the press and other forms of free expression. During these years, the estimated number of Castro’s political opponents who were executed ranged from several hundred to more than a thousand.

Those who fled to Miami lost nearly everything. Bitterly, they promised revenge. “Castro will fall within six months,” predicted Manuel Antonio de Varona, the last premier in a democratic Cuba before Batista, in 1960. He rallied exiles into a small volunteer army called Frente Revolucionario Democrático (FRD), based in Florida and underwritten by the CIA. “Tony Varona,” as his Yankee patrons called him, vowed his organization would “destroy the Castro myth—that Premier Castro is ‘a great liberator.’”

This impromptu war against Castro, however, created many unforeseen difficulties for Dulles and his spy agency. Guerilla fighting, terrorist bombs, and propaganda campaigns like Fidel’s visits had changed the traditional warfare of nation-states. Gone was the old distaste for snooping and covert “black ops” actions expressed a generation earlier when Secretary of State Henry Stimson declared, “Gentlemen do not read each other’s mail.” Now in a world of thermonuclear bombs and hordes of refuges fleeing Castro, Dulles and his lieutenants wondered how much of their assassination “plan of action” would be legally, if not morally, permissible if the president approved it.

CIA officials, sifting though the 1947 National Security Act that created their agency, looked for legalistic ways to get around old restrictions. They found an obtuse phrase—allowing for “other functions and duties related to intelligence affecting the national security”—and suitably twisted it to their liking. Dubiously, they now interpreted that phrase as a way to shoot, poison, or bomb objectionable foreign leaders, not only in Cuba but also in places like the Congo and Dominican Republic.

But the war against Castro also extended within American borders, rather than just a faraway land. Growing into the largest CIA operation of its kind, the Cuban Project, as the overthrow of Castro’s government became known, would be run largely out of southern Florida, breaking the old rules that barred domestic spying.

The practical and moral paradox of this new world was strikingly evident during Castro’s second New York visit in 1960 to the United Nations. While the local police spent a king’s ransom for security measures to protect Castro, the CIA was secretly trying to assassinate him.

The killing device, carefully prepared by the agency’s technicians, was an exploding cigar. At the Waldorf Astoria, a luxury hotel where Castro was staying, a CIA agent asked New York City’s chief inspector Michael J. Murphy to purposely place a box of cigars, including the loaded one, near the Cuban leader so he would smoke it. When lit, the cigar would blow off Fidel’s head. Murphy couldn’t believe his ears and refused. For the moment, the agency dropped its murderous plans.

But Dulles soon learned that the nation’s top leaders were more agreeable to such a scheme than a city cop. By 1960, even liberals considered Castro too dangerous. “For the first time in our history, an enemy stands at the throat of the United States,” warned Sen. John F. Kennedy, the leading Democratic candidate for president. “There is no doubt of the Communist-orientation of the Castro government. They are our enemies and will do everything in their power to bring about our downfall.”

Pressed to be “more aggressive” by Eisenhower and his ambitious vice-president Nixon, Dulles considered several proposals from his staff to please the White House. Though accounts vary, Col. J. C. King of the CIA’s Western Hemisphere division was apparently the first to suggest assassinating the troublesome Cuban leader. Deputy Director for Plans Richard Bissell, the agency’s rising star, offered a similar killing plan. This Yale-educated former professor suggested “thorough consideration be given to the elimination of Fidel Castro,” with methods, he later testified, dreamed up by his deputy, Col. Sheffield Edwards, Chief of Security.

With a wink and a nod, Eisenhower eventually gave the green light to the CIA’s assassination plans at a January meeting of his “Special Group” of military and security advisors. “Castro’s regime must be overthrown,” the group decided. Ike, the commander of D-Day and other great battles during World War II, stressed the need for secrecy. “The great problem is leakage and breach of security,” he warned. “Everyone must be prepared to swear that he had not heard of [the plan] . . . Our hand should not show in anything that is done.”

Historians later had trouble deciphering Eisenhower’s exact role in this CIA go-ahead because of the lack of documentation. Those involved understood the need for “plausible deniability”—a general way of “protecting” the president’s reputation through denial, regardless of the truth. If a sensitive mission went awry, Dulles believed his duty was to fall on his sword and take the blame.

“I have always felt the director should naturally assume full responsibility for anything his agency has done,” Dulles later explained, “and wherever he could shield or protect the president in anyway, he should do it.”

But Bissell, in a private 1965 speech at CIA headquarters made public in 2014, underlined the president’s deciding role in all such sensitive matters. “Throughout Eisenhower’s period in office, these things always went to him,” Bissell said. “They were always taken to him by Dulles” and other top CIA officials.

By mid-1960, the assassination scheme had made its way down the Washington chain of command. From Ike to Dulles, from Bissell to Edwards, and eventually to an agreeable CIA case officer named James P. O’Connell. His job, simply put, would be to help find assassins and make the plan work.

That wouldn’t be easy. It was agreed among the CIA’s brass that no one in the agency would directly fire a gun. Instead, these Ivy league-educated spies and West Point-trained colonels wanted Mafia figures to be recruited to kill Castro in “gangster type action”—a bloody, bullet-ridden mess that would be untraceable to the CIA and especially the White House.

Careful not to tell others, those who knew of this plot convinced themselves that the risks posed by Castro far outweighed any legal or moral niceties.

“I hoped the Mafia would achieve success,” admitted Bissell, one of the CIA’s top masterminds. “My philosophy during my last two or three years in the agency was very definitely that the end justified the means, and I was not going to be held back.”

As O’Connell testified years later, Bissell asked Edwards “whether we had any assets” that could oversee this murder plot. Edwards replied that he had a seasoned go-between in mind—one with agency clearance, who had worked with them before and could be trusted.

When the CIA gave the sensitive task to O’Connell that summer of 1960, the instructions couldn’t be clearer. “The thing was to get rid of Mr. Castro—there was no question of what the assignment was,” O’Connell recalled. “Colonel Edwards doesn’t mince words, he will just tell you.”

The need for secrecy was stressed. Unlike most CIA ventures, O’Connell noticed this mission wouldn’t have a code name or cryptonym, at least not initially.

Then Edwards mentioned the name of the outside handler—the “cut-out”—he wanted for this top-secret mission, a person familiar with organized crime types. The name was also familiar to O’Connell, a former FBI agent, who had worked before with this middleman.

“Get in touch with Bob Maheu,” Edwards directed. “You know he’s been out in Las Vegas quite a bit, and they have got a bunch of characters out there. I am sure that they would have somebody that might be able to handle the assignment.”

And thus, like some unguided missile or a long shot bet at a Las Vegas crap table, the government-sanctioned murder plot against Fidel Castro began.


CHAPTER 4:

THE CUTOUT

“Deadly poisons are often concealed under sweet honey.”

—PUBLIUS OVIDIUS NASO, “OVID”

As a top-secret cutout for the Central Intelligence Agency, Robert Maheu prided himself on getting the job done, whatever its risk or complexity. This freelance spook knew when to hide in the shadows, perform a dirty trick or, if necessary, exert a little muscle.

A balding, rubbery-jowled man with an ingratiating countryclub manner, Maheu began his career after World War II in J. Edgar Hoover’s FBI, where he claimed to have investigated counterintelligence cases and learned the importance of electronic listening devices. He knew the value of a good poker face in undercover work. With money he won in a friendly crap game against his fellow FBI agents, Maheu later opened his own private detective firm in Washington, DC.

For the right fee, Maheu favored clients with “special problems” that he could fix or make go away. A native New Englander, Maheu adopted the sly syrupy approach of Boston pols who advised never to write when you can speak, never speak when you can nod, and never nod when you can wink.

One of Maheu’s earliest and most valued clients was the CIA. Friends such as James O’Connell put Maheu on a $500 a month retainer as a cutout. It was the agency’s term for a go-between, insulating spies from one another or shielding superiors from any culpability. “Over the years, he (Maheu) has been intimately involved in providing support for some of the CIA’s more sensitive operations,” the agency later acknowledged.

Secret cutout matters for Maheu were usually kept on a “need to know” basis, with only a small inner circle aware of its existence. The daring expertise of Maheu’s “off the books” assignments for the CIA reportedly inspired the 1960s television show “Mission Impossible.” In one dispute involving Saudi Arabia, the agency hired Maheu to put a compromising wiretap inside the New York office of Greek shipping magnate Aristotle Onassis, leading to the desired result.

Another such “impossible” task, records say, called for the “procurement of feminine companionship” to please a foreign potentate during his official Washington visit. In this ruse, Maheu connived with the CIA to produce a phony “porno” film in Los Angeles to prevent Indonesian leader Achmed Sukarno from siding with the Communists. This sexual stunt—accompanied by a CIA-sponsored revolt by Indonesian rebels—would be a prelude to the violent and even more elaborate Castro drama to follow.

Maheu’s Hollywood handiwork was orchestrated under the direction of O’Connell and his boss, Colonel Sheffield Edwards, head of the CIA’s Office of Security. As leverage for sexual blackmail, the agency wanted to create a made-up surveillance film, simulating a real-life carnal encounter. The gritty film was constructed from an undercover photo taken inside a Kremlin bedroom with Sukarno and a blond-haired woman who happened to be a Soviet secret KGB agent.

Sex was an important weapon in the Soviet spy game. The Russians employed this alluring female “honeytrap”—the commonly-used term—as a way of compromising Sukarno into becoming an USSR ally. Such intimate blackmail was as old as time, from Samson and Delilah in the Bible to stories of German spy Mata Hari in World War I.

Tweedy CIA officials were generally hesitant to trade in sex. But the Soviet spy agency notoriously aimed its honeytraps at selected and usually unwitting targets. The Russians called it “kompromat,” a shorthand translation for “compromising material.” In this case, however, the phony CIA film was designed to keep Sukarno on the American side.

After much preparation, Maheu arranged for a late-night filming of actors portraying Sukarno and the Soviet woman inside a LA movie set, made up as a replica of the Moscow bedroom. Eventually, the CIA secretly released to the media only a few selected frames from the phony film as a way of embarrassing Sukarno and convincing him the Soviets could not be trusted.

No one was the wiser about the CIA’s production, including Sukarno, eventually forced from power in 1967. “I don’t think it’s stretching things too much to say that, in its own way, my little film marked the beginning of his end,” Maheu boasted decades later.

In 1959, Maheu repeated his matchmaker magic for the CIA by arranging for B-movie actress Susan Cabot (Kiss of Death and The Wasp Woman) to secretly rendezvous with Jordan’s then twenty-three-year-old King Hussein at a Long Island beach house. “We want you to go to bed with him,” government agents instructed Cabot. As they say in Hollywood, the rest was Kismet, but kept hush-hush for the next several decades, according to a secret CIA memo released in 2017.

A few months after this escapade, CIA men Edwards and O’Connell approached Maheu, their can-do intermediary, with a new assignment again involving a foreign potentate. But this time, the plan called for drastic actions that, Maheu said, gave him great pause. Instead of sex, it involved murder.

Couched in their spy terminology, Maheu’s two CIA friends said the agency wanted him to serve as their cutout in arranging with the Mafia to assassinate the Cuban leader Fidel Castro. This extermination, they explained, would be part of a US strategy to weed out Communism before the infestation spread throughout Latin America. All they had to do was spray around a few bullets.

Maheu tried not to show his initial shock. “Though I’m no saint, I am a religious man, and I knew that the CIA was talking about murder,” he recalled.

In the name of patriotism—and earning a few bucks—Maheu was happy to arrange a few dirty tricks or hidden surveillance for the Agency. But he’d attended enough classes as a devout young man at Holy Cross College in Massachusetts, the Jesuit answer to secular Harvard, to understand the difference between venial and mortal sins.

“In my mind, justified or not, I would still have blood on my hands,” Maheu recalled. “The deal carried a pretty big price tag. I kept thinking about my family. What kind of danger would it put them in? If anything went wrong, I was the fall guy, caught between protecting the government and protecting the mob, two armed camps that could crush me like a bug.”

Edwards and O’Connell listened to Maheu’s concerns. Both CIA officials admitted to sharing at first the same moral reservations. They argued killing Castro would be part of a “just war”—though undeclared—signed off by the highest level of government.

“They said it was necessary to protect the country,” Maheu recalled. “They used the analogy of World War II: if we had known the exact bunker that Hitler was in during the war, we wouldn’t have hesitated to kill the bastard. The CIA felt exactly the same way about Castro.”

Maheu, the usually gung-go undercover spy, remained uncertain. “I have to think about it, think very deeply,” he told his CIA handlers. “I’ll give you my answer tomorrow.”

That night inside his suburban Virginia home, where he lived with his wife and children, Maheu didn’t go to bed at the usual time. Instead, he stayed up all night in his downstairs recreation room, wrestling with his conscience. “I considered myself a reasonably good Catholic,” he recalled, “and I did not like the idea of getting involved with murdering anybody.”

To soothe his frayed nerves, he listened to string orchestra music. But mostly, Maheu wondered if he was willing to become an assassin.


CHAPTER 5:

SPRUCE GOOSE AND BROWN DERBY

“There are moral as well as physical assassinations.”

—VOLTAIRE

Robert Maheu and his CIA handlers didn’t disclose very much to each other, not at this early stage of their assassination game plan. Spying—like the sleight of hand among high-stakes poker players—demanded discretion, if not outright deception. No one showed all their cards.

For his part, Maheu had no idea how his efforts figured into the larger US strategy to overthrow Fidel Castro’s regime. Lowly cutouts weren’t privy to the high-level discussions of superiors like CIA director Allen Dulles and those insulated figures around him.

Nor did the CIA know fully the considerations crossing Maheu’s mind. Along with his eternal soul and how assassination might be judged someday at the pearly gates, Maheu suffered a more earthly concern:

He worried what Howard Hughes might think.

As one of the world’s wealthiest men, Hughes was Maheu’s prized client. The private investigator feared losing his hefty compensation from Hughes, a notoriously secretive man, if he got caught up in the Castro controversy, already igniting headlines around the world.

Maheu’s strange arrangement with Hughes seemed like its own form of corporate espionage. In the mid-1950s, the multi-millionaire hired Maheu to be “his eyes, his ears, and his mouthpiece,” though the two never met in person. Instead, they communicated by telephone or through other go-betweens.

Hughes was a true enigma, a real-life Gatsby figure. Once handsome and vibrant, Hughes gained fame as a self-made aviator turned Hollywood producer in the years before World War II. He was known for his flying “Spruce Goose”—then the largest plane ever built—and for dating beautiful actresses such as Jane Russell, Jean Harlow, and Ava Gardner. With his aeronautical eye for detail, he even designed a special bra for the well-endowed Russell to wear in one of his films.

With age, however, Hughes turned increasingly from an eccentric genius into a paranoid recluse. Rather than deal with the outside world himself, Hughes paid Maheu to be his fixer.

The former FBI agent kept embarrassments out of the press—like the blackmail attempt by a greedy minister who claimed his female parishioner had a sinful affair with Hughes. Maheu also maintained a watchful eye on actress Jean Peters, a longtime Hughes paramour who eventually became his wife. Despite his own wanderings, Hughes was a jealous and possessive sort, demanding to know about any man who might approach his beautiful actress-wife when he wasn’t looking.

Maheu’s employment with the multi-millionaire began with a blind phone call from a lawyer who turned out to be working for Hughes. The lawyer asked Maheu to check out rumors that Jean Peters’s first husband, Texas oilman Stuart Cramer, was a CIA operative. Maheu made a call to his CIA contact, “Big Jim” O’Connell, who checked it out and confirmed Cramer’s agency connections.

“The whole thing probably took me an afternoon, most of which was spent waiting for Jim to call me back,” recalled Maheu, picking up an easy fee. Hughes also paid Maheu for keeping tabs on actress Ava Gardner—another Hughes obsession—while she stayed at the Cal-Neva Lodge in Nevada during her divorce from entertainer Frank Sinatra.

As a fixer, Maheu was part of a rare clandestine breed. In postwar America, grey-flanneled corporate executives retained men like Maheu—private investigators, lobbyists, PR specialists, and lawyers with revolving door ties to the government—to make problems go away or gain a “hidden hand” advantage over competitors. Probably more than most, Hughes placed a premium on secrecy. In hiring Maheu, Hughes was impressed with his sleuthing for shadowy business clients, such as Greek shipping tycoon Stavros Niarchos, as well as his connections to “the intelligence community”—a euphemism for the CIA.

Eventually, Hughes provided a huge retainer for Maheu to move his Washington-based firm out to the West Coast. It was enough money to buy a beautiful new home and two Cadillacs. The exclusive deal required Maheu to give up most of his other clients.

By enlisting in the CIA plan against Castro, Maheu worried about endangering his sizeable private fees as much as his moral or patriotic concerns. As FBI records noted, Maheu was “reluctant to become involved in the operation since he thought it might interfere with his relationship with his new client, Howard Hughes.”

Yet to Maheu’s surprise, when he fleetingly mentioned the CIA’s Cuba invitation, Hughes gave his blessing. After all, the industrialist was already allied with the spy agency. During the 1960s, Hughes would help several CIA fronts and covert operations, including an $800-million attempt to recover a sunken Soviet submarine in the Pacific with one of Hughes’ underwater devices.

Perhaps Hughes didn’t understand the lethal intent of Maheu’s mission. There was no mention of Castro’s name, nor poisons or possible gunfire either. Maheu kept things strictly on a need-to-know basis.

Hughes knew only one thing for sure—having the government secretly in your corner was always good for business.

 

Like Maheu, the CIA had its own unspoken agenda. Though agency higher-ups spoke vaguely about “gangster” involvement, O’Connell and Shef Edwards specified that the CIA wanted Maheu to recruit his friend, Johnny Roselli, for their assassination plan. They felt Roselli was the kind of man who could be trusted with such a risky assignment.

Maheu first met Johnny a few years earlier when a mutual friend, Washington powerhouse lawyer Edward Bennett Williams, suggested he ask for Roselli’s help in getting a room in an overbooked Las Vegas hotel. Magically, the closed doors opened up. Everyone in Vegas seemed to know Johnny.

“He was able to accomplish things in Las Vegas,” Maheu recalled, “and nobody else seemed to get the same kind of attention.”

Roselli and Maheu became fast friends, the kind of strange but comfortable alliance between a gangster and a detective who frequently straddled both sides of the law. They shared many lunches in Vegas, and Los Angeles, and even spent one Thanksgiving at Maheu’s home in Virginia. “We built a solid friendship over the years—so solid, in fact, that my children took to calling him ‘Uncle Johnny,’” recalled Maheu.

Roselli was very different from Maheu, the avuncular family man. With his sensuous eyes and gleaming smile, Roselli appeared like an aging movie star, like those matinee idols he’d known in Hollywood. Johnny moved confidently and spoke with a deep-toned voice, full of authority. Though middle-aged, he appeared slim and fit, like a fighter with a bantamweight physique. His full head of dark hair then featured only a glimmer of silver.

Johnny always showed up meticulously dressed, usually from the finest clothiers in Beverly Hills. The ladies particularly appreciated his manly style and charm. “But it was his eyes that people remembered best, cool and blue-gray, ‘dancing and delightful,’ as one friend recalled, or flashing and steely in anger,” his biographers described. “His confidence and presumption of power proved irresistible to many women.”

Before moving out to the West Coast, Maheu hosted a Maine-style clambake in his Virginia backyard—filled with lobsters, steamers, and booze—for an old FBI buddy whom the Eisenhower administration was sending to Ireland as ambassador. Social occasions were important for Maheu’s consulting firm. They allowed government officials such as Senator Styles Bridges, an influential Republican, to mingle with Maheu’s friends and business acquaintances. Maheu invited his two CIA handlers, Shef Edwards and Jim O’Connell, whom he now considered pals. At the last minute, when Roselli called to say he was staying in town, he also received an invite to this 1959 clambake.

In Maheu’s backyard, Shef Edwards cornered Roselli. They talked for a while, though the plans against Castro weren’t discussed. Instead, Edwards tried to take his own measure of whether Roselli could be recruited as an asset. While Maheu often bloviated as a natural con man, this understated mobster seemed almost humble, with no urgent need to impress.

Over the next several days, Edwards and the CIA checked out Roselli’s background further. “They independently learned that Johnny had access to the highest levels of the Mafia,” Maheu recalled. “And that’s when the Company came to me, to see if I could get Johnny interested in the Cuban situation.”

The two CIA handlers, O’Connell and Edwards, overcame Maheu’s reluctance about the assassination plot by appealing to his friendship as well as his sense of patriotism. “Bob was a pretty sharp guy, and he just didn’t want to get involved in a thing like that,” recalled O’Connell. “But he took it on merely because he felt he owed us a commitment.”

Setting aside his qualms, Maheu agreed to become the cutout in the governmentߣs murder plan. Like some modern-day Paul Revere, he felt an urgency to protect his fellow countrymen from the looming threat of Castro in nearby Cuba.

“If it saved even one American life,” Maheu explained later, “I decided, it was worthwhile.”

 

Around Labor Day 1960, Johnny Roselli met with Maheu for lunch at the Brown Derby in Hollywood.

The celebrated eatery, literally topped with a huge derby-like roof, was a place where Roselli conversed for years with entertainers, businessmen, and underworld figures. Its cushioned booth seats were made of red leather, with framed caricatures of movie stars hanging from the walls. On Oscar night, the Brown Derby served as a prized location for parties after the awards were handed out.

As always, Johnny strode in like he owned the joint. He presented himself splendidly, enough so the spit shine on his shoes reflected the lights above.

Beforehand on the telephone, Maheu said he wanted to get together to discuss a business proposition. At the restaurant, however, Maheu was full of small talk and didn’t get around to the main topic until coffee was served.

Typically, Maheu began with a lie—a cover story suggested by his CIA handlers, O’Connell and Edwards. Maheu told Johnny that he represented a group of international businessmen, thrown out of Cuba by the communist takeover. They wanted Castro dead. “This was a story that Shef and I conjured up,” O’Connell later testified. “We had to have some story.”

The CIA knew Maheu had other real-life “clients of an international nature,” and figured their phony cover story would sound plausible to Roselli. According to this ploy, O’Connell recalled, “the international investors were quite unhappy about their money going down the drain as a result of Castro taking over, and they had put together an amount of $150,000 which would be made available to carry out the ultimate mission.”

Their cover story didn’t fly with Roselli. From the clambake and their previous conversation, Johnny knew Maheu’s firm worked for the CIA. Almost immediately, he suspected this plan derived from the government.

“I am not kidding—I know who you work for,” Roselli insisted.

Between friends, Maheu quickly gave up the ruse. There was no sense in trying to fool Johnny, not if he was asking for his help. For all of Maheu’s gifts at bluster and high-minded earnestness, Roselli saw right through his deception. With an acute sense for smelling a rat, Johnny had detected plenty of schemes in the past far less obvious. It was an essential tool for survival in the Mafia.

Changing tack, Maheu acknowledged the private investors angle was a phony but stressed the CIA’s plan to kill Castro was genuine. As Maheu explained, the assassination attempt would be a cutout operation financed by the CIA with the $150,000 bounty. “When I presented Roselli with the proposition, I made it clear that anything we talked about was strictly confidential,” Maheu recalled.

Under the CIA’s original murder-for-hire scheme, Roselli and his mob associates would eliminate Castro with gunfire—gangster-style, just like the St. Valentine’s Day massacre during the Al Capone days in Chicago. They’d rely on their old gambling contacts in Havana to set up the unsuspecting Communist dictator. All the while, Maheu would serve as the happy intermediary between the CIA and Johnny’s bloodthirsty crew.

The whole game plan must remain top-secret, Maheu insisted, made to look like a private hit job with “total deniability” for the government.

Roselli’s smile grew as he listened to this fantasy. Finally, he burst out laughing.
“Me? You want me to get involved with Uncle Sam?” Roselli chortled. “The feds are tailing me wherever I go. They go to my shirt maker to see if I’m buying things with cash. . . . They’re always trying to get something on me. Bob, are you sure you’re talking to the right guy?”

The US government indeed wanted him, Maheu assured. The agency had carefully checked him out. They wanted to enlist Roselli as a crucial mercenary in their assassination squad. The CIA would give Johnny free reign to eliminate Castro, the man who’d cost the Mafia millions when he shuttered their Havana casinos and other gambling joints.

“It’s up to you to pick whom you want, but it’s got to be set up so that Uncle Sam isn’t involved—ever,” Maheu said. “If anyone connects you with the US government, I will deny it.”

Inside their Brown Derby booth, Johnny remained hesitant. Could this all be a strange set-up, designed to catch him accepting a hit job? As tourists and Hollywood players passed by, Roselli tapped his fingers nervously on the table while Maheu outlined the stunningly brazen plan, underlining the seriousness of the agency’s commitment.

Putting together a team of assassins would require Roselli to consult with his Mafia bosses, gain their approval, and take on tremendous risks. Even if the CIA approved of their actions, there was no guarantee the FBI or some other law-enforcement agency wouldn’t come cracking down on their heads.

Though he couldn’t make any guarantees for the government, Maheu personally assured Johnny that he’d look the other way if Roselli relied on other Mafioso or other illegal methods to attack Castro. He wanted to make Johnny as comfortable as possible, to gain his trust as a friend who would keep his secrets.

“I won’t ever reveal the content of any private conversations,” Maheu vowed. “It’s none of my business.”

Roselli stared at Maheu, contemplating the offer. There was interest in his eyes.

“I would have to be satisfied that this is a government project,” Johnny finally replied.

Despite the initial phony cover story, Maheu certified the CIA’s commitment. “It comes from high level sources,” he replied. To further verify, he’d even be willing for Johnny to meet his immediate CIA handler.

Though he didn’t know for sure, Maheu surmised aloud that killing Castro was undoubtedly part of a bigger US plan for regime change in Cuba, ridding the island of its Communist curse. And to seal the deal like a good negotiator, Maheu emphasized the huge reward—roughly $1.1 million in today’s dollars—which the CIA would gladly pay.

Johnny brushed aside the offer. Money wasn’t necessary, he said, not if it was a matter of national security. He spoke about his loyalty to America, how much the country meant to him.

Maheu was surprised by the refusal but eventually came to understand Roselli’s motivations.

“Many people have speculated that Johnny was looking for an eventual deal with the government, or some sort of big payoff,” Maheu recalled. “The truth, as corny as it may sound, is that down deep he thought it was his “patriotic’ duty.”

While that may be so, Maheu also realized Roselli faced more pragmatic concerns as well.

For the past several years, Johnny had enjoyed the confidence of several Mafia powers in Los Angeles, Havana, Miami, and Las Vegas. The Mafia in America was at its height in 1960 and individual territories and fiefdoms were carefully guarded and protected. A national commission ensured that disputes between various ruling dons did not get out of hand and ruin La Cosa Nostra’s enormous sources of revenue.

Under its unforgiving rules, the national commission needed to be informed of this secret CIA killing plan that, in effect, would restore the Mafia profitable franchises in Cuba and regain millions in lost gambling revenue. If he pulled off this remarkable caper, Roselli knew he’d be hailed as a hero within the mob. He wouldn’t have to worry about money again.

But first, Roselli had to answer to his main boss—Sam Giancana, the head of Chicago’s sprawling organized crime empire. The Chicago Outfit arguably had the most clout in Las Vegas, and Roselli reported to Sam directly.

These two gangsters had worked together for years and shared many friends and good times. A sense of loyalty existed between them, a rare commodity in Mafia circles where trust could lead to tragedy. They also held the same ambitious view for the future, expanding organized crime internationally and multiplying the take from a cornucopia of businesses—some criminal, others legal.

Most times, Giancana listened to Roselli’s ideas and adopted them. But Sam was mercurial and aggressive. He didn’t always agree. A plan like this one might strike Giancana as foolish or not worth the risk. His endorsement was another wild card in this top-secret CIA assassination plan.

At the Brown Derby luncheon, Roselli didn’t explain to Maheu the full complexity of his world in the mob, just as Maheu didn’t explain his shadowy relationship to the CIA’s hierarchy. Maheu apparently assumed Roselli could launch a deadly assault on a foreign leader all on his own, without getting permission.

Roselli sipped his coffee and agreed to cooperate. But he left the restaurant that day without mentioning one essential fact: Without Giancana’s approval, Johnny couldn’t go forward.


CHAPTER 6:

MOONEY

“The Outfit, as you should know if you had a proper education, is how Chicagoans refer to the crime syndicate. Or the Cosa Nostra, or the Mafia, or whatever they call it in New York and the movies.”

—MIKE ROYKO

Sam Giancana’s crime empire was big enough to rival General Motors, U.S. Steel, or any other conglomerate in mid-twentieth century America. Experts estimated more than a billion dollars, virtually all untaxed and collected secretly, emerged each year from its far-flung illicit enterprises.

Giancana presided over a smorgasbord of rackets and mayhem. Its breathtaking scope ranged from Chicago’s bookies and one-armed bandits in Las Vegas casinos, to a host of other suspect ventures in Florida, California, the Midwest, Mexico, and elsewhere in Latin America.

More than a thousand henchmen associated with Giancana’s organization greased, bribed, threatened, or killed for small fortunes. Though generally homicidal by nature, they offered a full plate of criminal specialties including loan-sharking, robbery, extortion, narcotics, prostitution, union embezzlement, corrupt cops, and judges on the take.

Sam took a piece of everything, pocketing an estimated $40 million annually himself in 1960s dollars. Because of its unified control, the Outfit, as Chicago’s Mafia was known, possessed more clout than any of New York’s five crime families.

“Sam Giancana is the chief executive, the boss of all bosses, the man responsible for the day-to-day success of the operation,” observed writer Ovid Demaris in the 1960s. “In terms of leadership, this makes Giancana the most powerful arch criminal in the world.”

Mike Royko, the Bard of Chicago’s newspapers, recognized this pervasive grip on the city’s life. “For years, the Mafia has thrived in Chicago,” wrote the streetwise newspaper columnist. “It has done so well that it has placed its own people in the judiciary, the police department, the state legislature, the Congress of the United States and even in the Chicago City Council.”

Giancana, like his contemporary Johnny Roselli, came of age as a young gangster in the 1930s Mafia world shaped by Chicago’s Al Capone (America’s most famous gangster nicknamed “Scarface”).

“Shit, I knew Sam (Giancana) when he was driving for Jack McGurn,” Roselli recalled, referring to “Machine Gun Jack” McGurn, Capone’s associate and “public enemy” linked to the St. Valentine’s Day Massacre. In that notorious incident, seven rival gang members were lined up against a wall and shot by Capone’s Outfit.

Both Sam and Johnny were then young tigers in “the Outfit,” an organization guided by what ethologists and other animal experts call “territoriality,” with its violence triggered by aggressive turf-guarding at the scent of oncoming enemies. In a perverse way, their association with other well-known criminals and atrocities like the St. Valentine’s Day shootings brought instant credibility and fearful respect among their peers.

Over the next decade, Roselli served the Outfit’s interests in Hollywood, as Giancana worked his way up as a hoodlum in the city’s Italian-American ghetto known as The Patch. By inclination, Johnny liked to work alone. But Sam showed his organizational skill and money-making ability by becoming a captain in the mob, leading a tough assemblage of fellow killers and enforcers. “It gives him a little more leverage, if anybody gets out of line,” Roselli explained about Sam’s dominating urge to be boss. “I never wanted to be a capo [head of a gang]. You’ve got too many mouths to feed.”

A tautly built man with a hair-trigger temper, Giancana slugged, shot, and butchered his way to the top. Violence came naturally to him, a child of the streets with a sixth-grade education. From the tragedies of life, he developed a hard shell. Shortly after his Sicilian parents immigrated, his mother Antonia died from an infection, leaving his laborer father distraught. Sam was only two, but family members said the little boy turned sullen with her death.

Eventually Sam grew up with a stepmother who was later killed on a roadway, trying to shield his younger brother from an oncoming motorist. The driver sped away. Perhaps to hide his pain years afterward, Sam fabricated a different account. He claimed to his children that it had been his natural mother Antonia who’d been run over by a car trying to protect him. Somehow in Sam’s mind, this lost maternal figure, idolized from youth, had sacrificed her life to save his own.

Full of anger, young Giancana turned from a street urchin into a gangland thug. He became deeply cynical about the easy money and threatening power derived from a life in organized crime. When many men volunteered to serve in World War II, Army doctors rejected Sam from the draft as a “constitutional psychopath” with anti-social tendencies. Years later, Giancana admitted he faked it. “Who wouldn’t pretend he was nuts to stay out of the army?” he explained.

While money was important in the Outfit, Giancana realized violence was the true coin of the realm, the most effective method of enforcing one’s domain. His gang’s instruments of terror included machine guns, hidden bombs, baseball bats, ice picks, power tools, and metal vises to squeeze or break victims—the more violent, the better.

At his most vicious, Giancana’s eyes glazed over in such a killer’s stare that he was called “Mooney”—meaning “crazy”—a moniker that Sam grew to like for the fear it engendered. His death toll, by some estimates, would reach more than a hundred victims. Though he went to jail for lesser offenses, including bootlegging, he would be accused of murder three times but never convicted.

Initially, Giancana began as a “wheelman”—the driver of getaway cars—nimbly weaving through streets and alleyways as police chased from behind. He eventually became the driver for Paul Ricca, the Outfit’s boss after the notorious Capone was sent to prison for tax evasion. Both Ricca (nicknamed “The Waiter” by the press) and his successor Anthony (“Big Tuna”) Accardo experienced similar tax headaches with the law. By 1956, Tony Accardo was kicked upstairs in the Outfit’s hierarchy, as a retired consigliere along with Ricca, and Giancana assumed his place as top day-to-day boss.

Within the Outfit, Giancana’s reputation stemmed largely from the violent way he took over the “policy wheel” rackets in Chicago’s predominantly black South Side. Sam impressed Accardo by being the first in the Outfit to recognize the huge cash flow potential from this street lottery. (Policy “wheels” were circular devices from which winning numbers were drawn.)

Giancana scared away several “Negro” policy racketeers with threats of murder, including one who fled to Mexico. His gang eventually attempted to kidnap Ted Roe, the ruling South Side policy king, by pushing his moving car to the curb. A gun battle erupted, with a spray of bullets killing “Fat Lenny” Caifano—the brother of one of Sam’s top mob lieutenants, Marshall Caifano. Police charged Roe with murder, but Roe successfully pled self-defense.

Back on the streets, Roe hired a policeman as an unofficial bodyguard and carried a pistol. The millionaire African-American policy king proudly flashed his wealth by driving a Cadillac, living an expensive lifestyle, and, most memorably, giving out money “Robin Hood” style to the poor. But Roe remained wary of Giancana’s gang.

“I know they’re going to kill me, but I would like to take one of them with me when they do,” Roe told associates. “I never have and never will hide from the hoods.”

Meanwhile, Giancana vowed revenge for Fat Lenny’s death. It arrived a year later on a warm summer’s night in August 1952.

“Roe!” a voice called out, as he unlocked his car, parked near his apartment. When Roe turned, assassins hiding in the shadows killed him with twelve-gauge shotgun blasts. The sheer force ripped Roe’s face and slammed his body into a tree.

Police questioned Marshall Caifano, a former boxer with a cauliflower ear, about the murder. “He denied knowing Roe, and also denied knowing Sam Giancana, another hoodlum suspected of having a part in the abortive kidnap plot,” reported the Chicago Tribune, in one of Sam’s first mentions in the press. No one was ever charged with Roe’s death, which cemented Giancana’s hold on the policy rackets for the Outfit.

At age forty-eight, Sam took on the top job in Chicago’s mob. By stepping aside into self-imposed retirement, Accardo assumed Giancana’s wild tendencies would simmer as the new manager of their ever-widening criminal empire.

Accardo, a former Capone gunman, had proven to be a corporate chieftain at heart. He resided in a palatial twenty-two-room mansion in suburban River Forest, living off his ill-gotten gains the way CEOs do with stock options and dividend checks. Accardo carefully built the financial foundation for Chicago’s mob without a lot of bloodshed—at least compared to his predecessors. Throughout his tenure, Accardo avoided the flaunting, flashy style of Capone and the national notoriety of a St. Valentine’s Day Massacre. He learned inviting scrutiny from federal prosecutors led to eventual ruin.

“Keep your head down,” Accardo advised Sam, his most prescient message in passing the mantle.

Accardo had reason to believe Giancana might follow his advice. Although a gang leader by day, Sam had kept up appearances for many years as a family man, going home most nights to his beloved wife Angeline and three daughters in suburban Oak Park. He cut his own lawn in summer and shoveled snow in winter.

Sam adored Angeline, a devout Roman Catholic, and treated her like a madonna, though he often had a girlfriend on the side. Matrimony was a sacrament to him, just as the church taught, despite his many transgressions.

“A man’s got to marry a virgin, not a slut,” Sam admonished his younger brother Chuck.

Because Angeline’s middle-class family had warned her about marrying Giancana, a convicted felon, he always viewed her as a much-desired prize, another affirmation of his ambitions. He attended mass with Angeline, and even helped her run a big charity fundraiser called “Night of the Stars” at Chicago Stadium. It featured several entertainers including Frank Sinatra, who counted Giancana among his Mafioso friends.

Although Sam had been hardly an ideal husband, he never stopped idolizing Angeline. At home, his wife dealt primarily with their three daughters, including the oldest, Antoinette, whose wayward behavior reminded Sam of himself. But Giancana’s family life was soon shattered by tragedy. During a 1954 Florida trip, Angeline died suddenly of a cerebral embolism following an argument with Antoinette. Sam was crushed and blamed his daughter.

Virtually everyone at her funeral would “say with all sincerity that Mooney had treasured Ange more than any other woman,” his brother Chuck recalled. Antoinette noticed her father’s stark reaction. “Sam was morose, disconsolate, no longer interested in what happened around him,” Antoinette remembered. “Mother was gone and there was no one left for him to please.”

As the Outfit’s new boss, Giancana looked to places other than hometown Chicago for answers. Rather than play it safe, as Accardo advised, tending to ten-cent policy games and other local rackets, Giancana aggressively expanded the Outfit’s distant businesses in Las Vegas, Hollywood, and Cuba. These new projects held out the promise of fantastic financial returns, much more than cautious men like Accardo might envision.

Giancana’s travels introduced him to a more complex world of people, including beautiful women he hoped might fill the hole in his heart left by Angeline’s death. And in this new phase of middle-aged life outside of Chicago, there was no one Sam depended upon more than his longtime friend, Johnny Roselli.


CHAPTER 7:

THE VEGAS STRIP

Las Vegas, with its millions in free-flowing cash, beckoned to Sam Giancana like a siren’s song. Old-time crooks in Chicago seemed blind to this lucrative gem in the desert. But Giancana’s “policy wheel” bonanzas at home impressed the Outfit’s elders enough to become out-of-town investors in this boulevard of casinos known as “the Strip.”

Giancana’s interest dated back to at least 1953 when he flew to Los Angeles with boss Tony Accardo to see another booster of this venture, Johnny Roselli. Gambling was already a big moneymaker for the Outfit in Cuba, but Sam and Johnny wanted to make sure they had their piece of the future in Las Vegas.

As the Outfit’s man in Hollywood, Roselli planned to drive his two visitors out to Vegas, where they intended to extend their influence.

“Sam asked me to concentrate on Vegas,” Johnny recalled. “They had plenty of cash to invest and they wanted to get into some of these gambling joints.”

Roselli had been friendly with Bugsy Siegel, the New York mob’s driving visionary force behind the development of Las Vegas, until Siegel was fatally shot inside the Beverly Hills home of his girlfriend Virginia Hill.

With Bugsy’s untimely demise, Roselli recognized a newfound opportunity—both in Vegas and, for a time, in dating Virginia Hill. However, the initial inspection tour, meant to impress Chicago boss Tony Accardo, didn’t fare so well.

Once they landed in Los Angeles, Sam and Tony jumped into a car driven by Johnny, but undercover detectives followed them. The cops finally approached them at Perino’s Restaurant, a fancy French-Italian eatery in Beverly Hills. It was one of Johnny’s favorite hangouts, featuring starry customers such as Cary Grant and Bette Davis. Inside, tables and booths were covered in pink with a single rose.

Before they could eat, the cops frisked Giancana and Accardo, discovering $12,000 in their pockets. The two Chicago hoodlums were ordered to return home.

Two years later, however, Roselli placed the perfect bet in Las Vegas when Tony Cornero, owner of the half-built Stardust Hotel, mysteriously dropped dead.

Roselli quickly alerted Giancana and Murray Humphreys, the Outfit’s longtime fixer and moneyman, who recognized the opportunity and sprung into action. When finished, the Stardust promised to be the largest gambling resort in Vegas for “low rollers”—with the most guest rooms, the biggest lobby, the most massive swimming pool, and a crowd-pleasing drive-in movie theater in the back.

The Stardust fell into trouble when Cornero—a man of vision called “Mr. Lucky”—ran out of good fortune. He’d previously built a floating casino called the “SS Rex” off the coast of Los Angeles until local authorities stopped him. Cornero later survived an assassination attempt by gunmen at his home when he tried to invest in Mexico.
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